# FILED

SID J. WHITE

APR 18 1994

## IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CLERK, SUPREME COURT By \_\_\_\_\_\_ Chief Deputy Clerk

VICTOR MARCUS FARR,

Appellant,

v.

3

CASE NO. 82,894

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

\_\_\_\_\_/

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT, OF THE THIRD JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR COLUMBIA COUNTY, FLORIDA

## INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

NANCY A. DANIELS PUBLIC DEFENDER SECOND JUDICIAL CIRCUIT

W. C. McLAIN #201170 ASSISTANT PUBLIC DEFENDER LEON COUNTY COURTHOUSE FOURTH FLOOR NORTH 301 SOUTH MONROE SREET TALLAHASSEE, FLORIDA 32301 (904) 488-2458

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

#

### PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

This case is on appeal from a resentencing. The orginal appeal record (case no. 77,925) is relied on in this brief and page references are preceded with "R." The record on appeal from the resentencing (case no. 82,894) consists of two volumes. The page numbers in these volumes commence where the numbering stopped in the original record on appeal. References to the pages in the resentencing record will have the prefix "SR."

# STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

On January 3, 1991, a Columbia County grand jury returned a twelve count indictment charging Victor Marcus Farr with the following offenses: (I) grand theft; (II) attempted armed burglary of a conveyance; (III) attempted armed robbery; (IV) attempted kidnapping while armed; (V) attempted armed kidnapping; (VI) attempted first degree murder; (VII) attempted first degree murder; (VIII) armed burglary; (IX) armed kidnapping; (X) armed kidnapping; (XI) armed robbery; (XII) first degree felony murder during the commission of a kidnapping. (R 124-127) Farr filed a written plea of not guilty on February 5, 1991. (R 142) On February 7, 1991, the circuit court granted a motion for a mental examination and appointed a psychiatrist as a defense expert to determine Farr's competency to stand trial and mental condition at the time of the offense. (R 145-148)

On April 2, 1991, Farr entered a guilty plea to all counts in the indictment. (R 175-183) (R 1-38) Farr specifically requested in his written plea offer that the state recommend that the court impose a death sentence and that the court sentence to him to death. (R 176) At the plea hearing, the prosecutor provided the factual basis for the plea as follows:

> MR. COLEMAN: Your Honor, we expect to show if this matter went to trial in Columbia County, Florida, that back December 10th and 11th, 1990, that this defendant was staying with an individual, Frank Romine in Lake City, Florida. He got into an argument with a neighbor of Mr. Romine's on December the 11th, and he was asked to leave Mr. Romine's house, he did so. The day after he left, Mr. Romine noticed that his .25 caliber

> > - 2 -

handgun was missing. Mr. Romine reported that missing handgun and the serial number and its description to the Columbia County Sheriff's Office, and also that he had given no one permission to take it.

On December the llth, after being given a ride from Mr. Romine's house to his father's house, Mr. Farr got a ride from there by his father to Tom's Place, a bar in Lake City, Florida. After being in the bar a short time he went outside and tried to kidnap two women, Cindy Thomas and Patsy Lynch. He did that by approaching them in the car, at that point he demanded that the two women slide over and give the control of the car and themselves to him.

He threatened to shoot them if, they didn't comply with his wishes, when they did not, he proceeded to shoot both of them several times. These acts constituted his attempted to unlawfully enter the vehicle while armed with a firearm, he attempted to take the vehicle while armed with a firearm, he attempted to kidnap both women and attempted to murder both of the women while armed.

Leaving them wounded, after that, he then walked around the rear of Tom's to a furniture store that was closed. In front of there were two young people, Chris Todd and his girlfriend, Shirley Bryant, they were sitting in Todd's car. He approached the car and forced Mr. Todd into the back, and as he did and began to kidnap them. He put him in the back seat and got in the driver's seat and began demanding the keys to the car. Eventually they were produced and placed in the ignition, the car was cranked and he asked for some assistance to find the light switch to turn it on. Mr. Todd saw this as an opportunity, he told Mr. Farr that he would have to lean forward to reach the switch to turn it on, he did so, and Todd shoved the seat and him and all towards the windshield and bolted out of the door of the car and fled.

Mr. Farr immediately left in that car with Ms. Bryant, Shirley Bryant as a captive at gunpoint.

Mr. Todd jumped in Ms. Bryant's car and attempted to follow them, he stayed up with them as best he could, until the Tuscanooga Road cut off, which veered off at a 45 degree angle from south 41, there the car that belonged to him being driven by Mr. Farr made that turn, he didn't but ran in the ditch, and when it did he ran into a bar and reported what had happened.

Obviously the people at Tom's had already called in a report, as a consequence, an area wide BOLO was put out for this described vehicle with this individual and Ms. Bryant.

He got to the interstate, headed north and eventually got off the interstate and was up in the edge of Hamilton County, there the car was spotted by a Game and Wildlife Officer and an Agricultural Officer, they began to follow the vehicle and really not getting into a pursuit status but identified themselves with a blue light and suddenly the vehicle accelerated and sped away from them and rounded a curve, when they got there, they found the vehicle crushed against the side of the tree and in the vehicle they found this defendant and Ms. Bryant in critical condition, and also in the vehicle was a handgun, a .25, and that matched the one that was stolen from Mr. Frank Romine and the FDLE laboratory matched the slugs taken from the victims at Tom's Place with that particular gun by scientific analysis.

The death of Shirley Bryant occurred due to the wreck during the course of her kidnapping by Victor Marcus Farr, additionally a FHP homicide investigator that went to the scene advised that he would testify that the markings that he saw on the side of the road after the car left the road, and even proceeding into the tree, were not braking skid marks but acceleration marks.

Finally Mr. Farr wrote a letter that, in which he stated, that he deliberately ran into this tree in an attempt to kill himself and Ms. Bryant at the end.

These are the facts that we would rely on to prove the case and all the charges to which he is pleading.

(R 26-29). Farr and his counsel agreed that the state could prove those facts. (R 30)

Circuit Judge Royce Agner accepted Farr's plea and ordered a presentence investigation report. (R 1-37) At that time, the court left open the question of whether he would convene a jury for an advisory sentence at a penalty phase. (R 36) Farr filed a memorandum in support of waiver of a penalty phase jury. (R 198-204) The state stipulated to the defendant's waiver of a penalty phase jury. (R 205)

On May 13, 1991, the trial judge conducted a sentencing proceeding without a jury (R 52-123) The trial judge stated the items he had read in the record to be as follows: presentence investigation report; a letter Mr. Farr wrote to the court dated April 25th; a letter addressed to the state attorney's office in care of the San Angelo Police Department in Texas; and a letter from Farr to his lawyer dated February 20, 1991. Certain other letters the court was aware of but specifically did not read. (R 53) The court noted there had been a psychiatric evaluation done by the psychiatrist appointed as a defense expert. (R 54) Defense counsel advised the court, pursuant to Farr's instruction, that Dr. Mahtre would not participate in the sentencing proceedings. (R 55) The court questioned whether there might be any input regarding Farr's competence to proceed. (R 55) Defense counsel offered Mahtre's written report to the court. (R 56) Neither the trial judge nor the prosecutor had access to this report earlier. (R 56). Farr specifically agreed that the judge could consider Mahtre's report concerning his competency to stand trial or to proceed. (R 57) The report was received as exhibit #1. (R 58) The

- 5 -

prosecutor asked for a copy of the report to be made available during the hearing. (R 58) The court told the prosecutor that, "I don't find any particular interest in seeing Dr. Mahtre's report." (R 58) The court further said that its only interest was in Farr's competence to proceed. (R 59) The prosecutor withdrew his request for a copy of the report. (R 59) The court then asked if Farr had ever been in a mental hospital, and he replied that he had been in Texas. (R 59) Defense counsel explained that he had not been adjudged incompetent at that time. (R 59-60)

Farr again reiterated his desire to proceed without an advisory jury. (R 61-62) Defense counsel provided the court with a letter of instruction signed by Farr which covered this point. (R 62-63) That letter was received as exhibit #2 in the proceedings. (R 64) The court noted in paragraph four of the letter, there was some discussion about Mahtre's report as providing possible mitigation. (R 64) However, the judge said he would decide later whether to consider the report. (R 64-65)

Circuit Judge Royce Agner adjudged Farr guilty of all twelve counts. (R 190-192, 295-296) He proceeded to sentencing on Counts I through XI of the indictment. (R 66-74) The court sentenced Farr to five years for grand theft; fifteen years for attempted burglary; fifteen years for attempted robbery; fifteen years for attempted kidnapping; fifteen years for attempted kidnapping; thirty years for attempted first degree murder; thirty years for attempted murder; life for armed burglary;

- 6 -

life for armed kidnapping; life for armed kidnapping; and life for armed robbery. (R 297-312, R 66-74)

Prior to sentencing on the murder, the prosecutor presented one witness, Mike Dunn, a probation officer. (R 77) Dunn had prepared the presentence investigation report. (R 78) He said that he spoke to Farr during the preparation of the report and that Farr made a statement to him that he intended to kill the victim when he struck the tree with the automobile, since he had no ammunition for his gun and could not shoot her. (R 80-81) Dunn also noted in his report that he had information that Farr had been mentally evaluated and declared competent. (R 82) Based on a statement Farr made to him, he wrote in his report that in 1979 Farr received alcohol treatment on a outpatient basis and voluntarily admitted himself into a mental health center to avoid court proceedings. (R 82)

Dunn also stated that Farr provided him letters, which he wrote, to be attached to the PSI. (R 83) The state's exhibits 1 & 2 are the original letters of copies Dunn had presented to the court with the PSI. (R 83) The prosecutor asked that the letters be made part of the record (state's exhibit #1 is a letter dated February 20, 1991, and exhibit #2 is a letter dated April 12, 1991). (R 85) In the February 20th letter, Farr wrote to the prosecutor, Mr. Coleman, stating that he had been incorrectly charged with first degree felony murder, that the charge should have been premeditated murder. (R 84-85) Farr said he told the victim to get out of the automobile on two separate occasions, but she refused. (R 85) Farr said he

- 7 -

wanted her out of the car because he planned to kill himself. (R 85) When the police started chasing the car, Farr said he told the victim that the night was going to have a sad ending. (R 85) He said when he ran the car off road, he felt it would be better if no one could talk. (R 85) Farr said that is why he was asking for the death sentence. (R 85)

In the April 12th letter, Farr wrote that he asked for the death sentence because he planned to kill the victim. (R 86) He said when the police starting chasing him, he had to hit the tree. He was not going to let her live. (R 86) He told her he was going to kill her and she began to beg. (R 86) He hit her on the left side of the face to make her shutup. (R 86) When he first lost control of the car and managed to get it back on the roadway, Farr said he told the victim that this was not the way he planned it. (R 86) Farr then pressed on the gas and headed straight for the tree. (R 86) The victim grabbed the wheel to try to turn the car, and Farr hit her again, knocking her against the window. (R 86) He told her she was going to die. (R 86)

Farr also presented some letters to the court for consideration. (R 88) Defense counsel presented them to the court at Farr's direction. (R 88) They were admitted as defense exhibit #1, which was a letter addressed to the judge and was read into the record. (R 90) In this letter, Farr explained why he wanted the death penalty and detailed matters about the crime. (R 90-96)

- 8 -

Dr. Mahtre's report and the PSI provided information about Farr's background and mental condition. (R 230-232, 261-266) Farr never knew his biological father and his stepfather was a chronic alcoholic. (R 261-262) His mother and stepfather divorced when Farr was ten-years-old. (R 261) Farr's mother was chronically depressed, made several suicide attempts and was hospitalized several times. (R 262) Farr was raised by his stepfather, an uncle and his grandparents. (R 261-262) He move around a great deal and said he felt rejected by his family -he said, "I did not feel like I belonged in my family." (R 262) Farr was sexually abuse by a stranger when he was 14, and he ran away from home three times while a teenager. (R 262) He dropped out of school when he was in the seventh grade. (R 262) At 13-years-old, Farr began drinking alcohol his uncle provided to him. (R 263) He stated, "I learned alcohol was good for hiding things like my mother being gone." (R 263) Later, in 1986, his mother was murdered by her boyfriend. (R 261) Farr began drinking a case of beer a day and also used marijuana, speed and cocaine. (R 230, 263) He attended AA meetings for a while, but his longest abstinence from alcohol was four months. (R 263) He never received drug abuse treatment. (R 230) Farr was hospitalized for depression, hallucinations and suicidal tendencies; he attempted suicide four times. (R 263) He reported continued depression due the loss of his mother, several broken marriages and relationships and his not being able to see his children. (R 263)

- 9 -

After the prosecutor concluded his argument to the court encouraging the imposition of the death penalty, defense counsel made no argument in opposition. He told the court that he was making no argument pursuant to Farr's specific instructions. (R 108-109) The court inquired of Farr if his counsel was carrying out his wishes, and Farr replied affirmatively. (R 110-111) At a bench conference, the court indicated to counsel that he was inclined to find that the aggravating circumstances outweighed the mitigating and he would need to prepare a written order. He took a recess to write the order. (R 113-114) The defense counsel at that point offered to participate in drafting the order. (R 114)

Judge Agner sentenced Farr to death for the murder. (R 66-74)(R 309-312) In aggravation, he found: (1) Farr had been previously convicted for a violent felony; (2) the homicide was committed while Farr was fleeing from the commission of a kidnapping, a robbery, two attempted kidnappings and an attempted robbery; (3) the homicide was committed to disrupt the enforcement of laws; and (4) the homicide was especially heinous, atrocious or cruel. In mitigation, the court said it considered, but rejected, the possibility that Farr's capacity to appreciate the criminality of his conduct was substantially impaired due to his intoxication at the time of the offense. (R 309-311)

Farr appealed to this Court.(R 313) On June 24, 1993, this Court affirmed Farr's convictions and sentences for the noncapital felonies. However, this Court vacated the death

- 10 -

sentence and remanded for a new sentencing hearing because the trial judge did not consider all available mitigating evidence. <u>Farr v. State</u>, 621 So.2d 1368 (Fla. 1993). The Court's opinion approved the four aggravating circumstances the trial judge found. <u>Ibid</u>. at 1370. On remand, the directive was to "...con-duct a new penalty phase hearing in which [the trial court] weighs all available mitigating evidence against the aggravat-ing factors." Ibid.

On December 8, 1993, Circuit Judge Royce Agner conducted a new sentencing hearing. (SR 447-516) The only witness at the hearing was Victor Farr, himself. (SR 447-516) Farr again advised the court, through his letters, that he wanted the death penalty imposed, did not want an advisory jury and did not want any mitigation presented in his behalf. (SR 454-461) (Defense Exhibits Nos. 1, 2 & 3) (SR 402-411) Farr's trial counsel summarized his advise to Farr and Farr's directives to him concerning the resentencing in a letter which Farr signed and later confirmed in court. (SR 455-461) (Defense Exhibit No. 2) (SR 404-405) On cross-examination, the prosecutor had Farr identify five letters he wrote to the State Attorney's Office and one letter he wrote the the parents of the victim. (SR 461-470) These were introduced as State's Exhibits Numbers 1 through 6. (SR 461-470) (SR 385-401)

The prosecutor also questioned Farr about some of the factual matters contained in the letters, in Dr. Mhatre's psychiatric report and in the presentence investigation report. (SR 470-488) First, the prosecutor asked about a troubled

- 11 -

childhood as a possible mitigating factor. (SR 471) Farr confirmed a statement in one of his letters that he was raised with love and understanding by a father who worked hard to take care of him. (SR 471) Farr said his childhood played no part in the homicide. (SR 472) Second, Farr said the statements in Mhatre's reports that he had attempted suicide four times was based on a lie he told Mhatre. (SR 472-473) He stated that he had never attempted suicide. (SR 473) Third, regarding prior hospitalizations, Farr said he was placed in a psychiatric hospital one time and in a clinic one time. (SR 473) Regarding the impact of the death of his mother, Farr testified that his mother was murdered by her boyfriend, but he denied that he suffered unusual emotional trauma as a result. (SR 474-475) Although he told Mhatre that he was hospitalized and had visual hallucination of his mother coming alive to visit him, Farr said this was a lie. (SR 475-476) Farr said he reported hallucinations and suicide attempts in the past in order to evade criminal prosecution. (SR 477-480) 472) Fourth, Farr said his statement to Mhatre about being sexually abused was a lie and that he was never abused sexually as a child. (SR 480) Fifth, the prosecutor asked Farr about his drug and alcohol consumption. (SR 481-486) Farr said the statement in the reports about his drinking beginning at age 13 was true. (SR 481) He also confirmed that he had never had a blackout or delirium tremors. (SR 481) The presentence investigation report stated that Farr was drinking three cases of beer and a fifth of liquor a week in December of 1990. (SR 482) Farr corrected

- 12 -

that amount to a case of beer a week and no liquor. (SR 482-483) He further said his consumption of speed was about three doses a week until November 1990 rather the reported 25 pills a week. (SR 483-484) Farr testified that he used only a small amount of marijuana in October and November of 1990. (SR 484-485) Finally, Farr said he used cocaine only once in August 1990. (SR 485) He stated that he lied when he told Mhatre that he could not remember the events of the night of the homicide. (SR 486)

At the conclusion of Farr's testimony, his trial counsel advised the court that he reviewed the court files and his files and did not discover any additional information he deemed potentially mitigating. (SR 488) Further, defense counsel stated that he was unaware of anything in the presentence investigation report which needed to be amplified. (SR 489) The prosecutor relied on the evidence presented in the original sentencing hearing and said he would not present any additional evidence in aggravation. (SR 490-491) Additionally, the State argued that Farr's letters and his testimony in the resentencing negated the existence of mitigating factors. (SR 490-491) The trial judge took a recess, and upon returning, read a written order reimposing a death sentence. (SR 493-512)

Circuit Judge Agner, in sentencing Farr to death, again found four aggravating circumstances: (1) Farr had a previous conviction for a crime involving violence; (2) at the time of the homicide, Farr was fleeing from the commission of a robbery, attempted kidnappings, an attempted robbery and a

- 13 -

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