## IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

## FILED

# SID J. WHITE

	Ci.i By	ERK, SUPREME COURT
	-	Chief Deputy Clerk
CASE	NO.	82,894

STATE OF FLORIDA,

v.

VICTOR MARCUS FARR,

Appellant,

Appellee.

## ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE THIRD JUDICIAL CIRCUIT IN AND FOR COLUMBIA COUNTY, FLORIDA

## ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

ROBERT BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

BARBARA J. YATES ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL FLORIDA BAR NO. 293237

DEPARTMENT OF LEGAL AFFAIRS THE CAPITOL TALLAHASSEE, FL 32399-1050

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

##

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

After making these findings, the court went on to (SR 418-21). "Having considered the entire record in this case, state: including all matters presented at the original sentencing hearing, it is the Court's reasoned judgment that no mitigating circumstances, either statutory or nonstatutory, exist to outweigh or offset the aggravating circumstances which have been proven to the Court beyond and to the exclusion of every reasonable doubt." (SR 421).

As directed in <u>Pettit v. State</u>, 591 So.2d 618, 620 (Fla.), <u>cert. denied</u>, 113 S.Ct. 110, 121 L.Ed.2d 68 (1992), trial courts are to "carefully analyze the possible statutory and nonstatutory mitigating factors against the aggravators to assure that death is appropriate." Farr argues that the careful analysis and consideration required by <u>Pettit</u> did not occur. This argument's lack of merit, however, is readily apparent, and a reading of the record demonstrates that the trial court's findings of fact and conclusion that death is the appropriate penalty are supported by competent substantial evidence.

Appellate counsel chides the trial court for relying on Farr's testimony and letters to reject the possible mitigators. The contention that Farr's testimony should not be taken at face value, however, ignores the fact that the possible mitigators in

the psychiatric report and the PSI are also based solely on Farr's uncorroborated self-reporting. It also ignores the fact that, immediately after making his statements to Dr. Mhatre and Mr. Dunn, Farr began repudiating those statements and did so continuously and repeatedly thereafter.

Turning to the court's findings, appellate counsel argues that nothing refuted the fact that Farr never knew his natural father, that his stepfather was an alcoholic, and that he was raised by various relatives, moved around a lot, and ran away from home. As required by Rogers, "the trial court's first task in reaching its conclusion is to consider whether the facts alleged in mitigation are supported by the evidence." 511 So.2d Thereafter, "the court must determine whether the at 534. established facts are of a kind capable of mitigating the Merely stating the items now defendant's punishment." Id. complained about does not prove them. Sentencing is an individualized process, and what may be proved as a mitigating factor for one defendant may not be supported by the record for There are no "hard-and-fast rules about what must be another. found in mitigation in any particular case." Lucas v. State, 568 So.2d 18, 23 (Fla. 1990). Nothing in this record corroborates the existence of the complained-about items as established mitigators or demonstrates how they "extenuat[e] or reduc[e] the degree of moral culpability for the crime committed" by Farr. Rogers, 511 So.2d at 534. The trial court, therefore, properly rejected Farr's "troubled childhood" as a mitigating circumstance because the facts did not establish it.

The argument that Farr's alleged suicide attempts should have been found as a mitigator is refuted by Farr's statements that such attempts did not occur. Exhibiting his unscarred wrists showed the absence of a factual basis for this possible mitigator.

Likewise, the court's discussion of the third and fourth the death of possible mitigators, Farr's mother and his hospitalization, shows that the facts did not support them. Instead, the record demonstrates Farr's familiarity with the criminal justice system and his knowledge that he could manipulate that system to his benefit. Rather than suporting the existence of these possible mitigators, the record shows that, finally, Farr decided to take responsibility for his crimes.

As with the other possible mitigators, the argument on Farr's alleged sexual abuse as a child consists solely of the complaint that the court's finding was based on Farr's testimony. Dr. Mhatre made a single reference to this item and drew no conclusions from it. Farr's testimony that he lied about the alleged sexual abuse and that he had never been abused was credible testimony and amply supports the court's conclusion that the alleged abuse was not a mitigator.

In rejecting Farr's alleged alcohol and drug use as a mitigator the court detailed what Farr said in the doctor's report, in the PSI, and at the resentencing hearing. Although Farr had been drinking earlier on December 11, he was well aware of what he did that night. As the court found evident, "Farr misled Dr. Mhatre as to the extent of his intoxication the night

of the murder." (SR 420). Thus, the record refutes the claim that the court should have found that Farr's drug and alcohol abuse mitigated his culpability for this killing. Reliance on <u>Nibert v. State</u>, 574 So.2d 1059 (Fla. 1990), and <u>Ross v. State</u>, 474 So.2d 1170 (Fla. 1985), is misplaced because those cases are factually distinguishable. In <u>Ross</u> numerous family members testified to Ross' drinking problems and the state's key witness testified that Ross told him he had been drinking heavily when he killed his wife during a domestic dispute. Nibert, likewise, had been drinking heavily on the day of the murder and was drinking when he attacked the victim. This case, howver, is much closer to <u>Johnson v. State</u>, 608 So.2d 4, 13 (Fla. 1992), <u>cert. denied</u>, 124 L.Ed.2d 273 (1993), in which this Court held:

> While voluntary intoxication or drug use might be a mitigator, whether it actually is depends upon the particular facts of a case. Here, the evidence showed less and less drug influence on Johnson's actions as the night's events progressed and supports the trial court's findings. There was too much purposeful conduct for the court to have given any significant weight to Johnson's alleged drug intoxication, a self-imposed disability that the facts show not to have been a mitigator in this case.

The same is true of the instant case. Farr testified that he took no drugs on December 11 and his clear memory of the events of that day and night shows that he did not suffer any incapacitating effect from the alcohol he drank earlier in the day.

The trial court conscientiously followed this Court's directions on remand and carefully examined the record in light of the possible mitigators. Competent substantial evidence

supports the trial court's findings, and no abuse of discretion "Because each case is unique, determining has been demonstrated. what evidence might mitigate each individual defendant's sentence 568 must remain within the trial court's discretion." Lucas, So.2d at 23. Appellate counsel suggests that the state is assisting a suicide, but the record shows that Farr's taking responsibility for his actions is not a death wish.<sup>14</sup> As this court recognized in Hamblen v. State, 527 So.2d 800, 804 (Fla. 1988), "all competent defendants have a right to control their Therefore, this Court should affirm the trial own destinies." court's findings of fact and Farr's death sentence.

(B) This Court Correctly Refused to Recede from Hamblen

On direct appeal from his original sentence Farr argued that this Court should recede from <u>Hamblen v. State</u>, 527 So.2d 800 (Fla. 1988), and now concedes that this Court refused to do so. As stated by this Court:

> On appeal Farr raises three issues. First, Farr argues that our decision in Hamblen v. 527 So.2d 800 (Fla. 1988), is State, inconsistent with our decision in Klokoc v. State, 589 So.2d 219 (Fla. 1991), and that to cure this inconsistency we should recede from We disagree. We have rejected a Hamblen. similar argument elsewhere. E.g., Durocher v. State, 604 So.2d 810 (Fla. 1992).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>14</sup> For example, in his August 21, 1991 letter to Blair, Farr stated that he does not have a death wish. (SR 388). In the April 25, 1991 letter to Judge Agner, Farr said that he did not want to die, but that he wanted to pay for his crimes. (SR 408-09). In his letter to the victim's parents, dated June 25, 1993, Farr stated: "I feel I must pay with my life, so others will think before they pick to end a life." (SR 399). In another letter to Judge Agner, dated November 13, 1993, Farr wrote: "I'm just man enough to face the rightful price to my wrong." (SR 403).

<u>Farr</u>, 621 So.2d at 1369. In spite of this Court's disagreement with his argument on the first appeal, Farr repeats that argument. The state agrees with the Court's resolution of this issue on the first appeal and urges the Court to deny this issue summarily.

Hamblen, as Farr did, pled guilty to first-degree murder and refused to allow the presentation of mitigating evidence at his penalty proceeding. This Court, in affirming Hamblen's death sentence, held that defendants have the right and the power to control their destinies by refusing to participate in a penalty Numerous defendants other than Farr and Hamblen have phase. refused to allow the presentation of mitigating evidence, and this Court has upheld their death sentences. E.g., Krawczuk v. State, 634 So.2d 1070 (Fla. 1994); Henry v. State, 613 So.2d 429 (Fla. 1992); Clark v. State, 613 So.2d 412 (Fla. 1992), cert. denied, 114 S.Ct. 114, 126 L.Ed.2d 79 (1993); Durocher v. State, 604 So.2d 810 (Fla. 1992), cert. denied, 113 S.Ct. 1660, 123 L.Ed.2d 279 (1993); Pettit v. State, 591 So.2d 618 (Fla.), cert. denied, 113 S.Ct. 110, 121 L.Ed.2d 68 (1992); Anderson v. State, 574 So.2d 87 (Fla.), cert. denied, 112 S.Ct. 114, 116 L.Ed.2d 83 In Durocher and Clark the Court specifically rejected (1991).the argument that it should recede from Hamblen and, in Durocher, stated that it has "consistently held that a defendant may, if done knowingly and voluntarily, waive participation in the penalty phase." 604 So.2d at 812.

It appears that Farr is the only defendant who refused to participate in the penalty phase that has been remanded for

resentencing. On remand the trial court conscientiously followed this Court's direction, properly found that no mitigators had been established by the facts, and correctly sentenced Farr to death. Any problem perceived by the Court on the first appeal has been cured. This Court, therefore, again should refuse to recede from Hamblen and should affirm Farr's sentence.

## (C) The Court Correctly Found Four Aggravators

The trial court found that four aggravators had been established: prior conviction of a violent felony, committed during commission of a felony, committed to disrupt or hinder the enforcement of the law, and heinous, atrocious, or cruel. (SR §921.141(5)(b), (d), (g), (h), Fla. Stat. (1993). 415-16). These are the same aggravators found at the original sentencing. In the original appeal Farr argued that the trial court should not have found the murder to have been committed to disrupt or hinder the enforcement of laws and that it was not especially heinous, atrocious, or cruel. This Court, however, agreed "with the trial court's conclusions respecting aggravating factors" and "The four factors cited by the trial court clearly were held: established beyond a reasonable doubt." Farr, 621 So.2d at 1370. In spite of this, Farr repeats his arguments on the applicability of the two aggravators he attacked in the first appeal.

Similar situations have occurred before. In <u>Waterhouse v.</u> <u>State</u>, 590 So.2d 1008 (Fla.), <u>cert. denied</u>, 113 S.Ct. 418, 121 L.Ed.2d 341 (1992), this Court considered the appeal of a death sentence imposed on resentencing. Waterhouse raised the same challenges to the aggravators that he raised on his first appeal, and this Court held:

We previously rejected on direct appeal two of the arguments Waterhouse raises in this appeal. For that reason we reject his claim that the evidence does not support a finding that the was especially heinous, crime atrocious, or cruel. Similarly, we reject the argument that the trial court improperly doubled aggravators in finding, as two separate aggravators, that Waterhouse had sentenced to been life imprisonment for second-degree murder and that he was on parole at the time of the murder.

<u>Id.</u> at 1017. Similarly, in <u>Magill v. State</u>, 428 So.2d 649, 652 (Fla.), <u>cert.</u> <u>denied</u>, 464 U.S. 865, 104 S.Ct. 198, 78 L.Ed.2d 173 (1983), on appeal from resentencing this Court held:

Appellant next argues that the trial court erred in finding applicable three of the aggravating circumstances. He argues that the first, second, and fourth aggravating factors are supported by the same evidence and thus are improperly cumulative. The validity of these aggravating circumstances was approved of in <u>Magill</u> I and was not a factor in our remand to the trial court. We need not, therefore, address this issue.

(Citations omitted.) This Court also addressed this issue in <u>Menendez v. State</u>, 419 So.2d 312, 315 (Fla. 1982), and held:

Appellant contends that there is no evidence to support the finding that the murder was committed for pecuniary gain. We noted in our original opinion in this case that the trial court did not give separate consideration to pecuniary gain an as aggravating circumstance but, rather, properly merged it with the factor of the murder having been committed in the course of a robbery. We expressly concluded that, as so merged, this single aggravating factor was supported by the evidence. The state accordingly responds to this argument by saying that appellant may not attempt to reopen this issue which was settled in the initial appeal. We agree and adhere to our earlier conclusion that there was sufficient evidence to establish that the murder was committed in the course of a robbery.

(Emphasis supplied, footnote omitted.)

Relying on this Court's holding that the aggravators had been properly found, the state presented no evidence in aggravation at the resentencing and, instead, relied on the aggravating evidence presented at the original penalty phase. (SR 490-91). If that evidence was sufficient to support the establishment of the four aggravators at that time, it is likewise sufficient to support them now. Because this Court approved the aggravators on the initial appeal, this issue is not cognizable now.

If this Court decides to look at the challenged aggravators again, however, it should find that they were established beyond The trial court correctly found that the a reasonable doubt. "unrefuted testimony established beyond a reasonable doubt that the Defendant intended to thwart the police's ability to prove that he had Kidnapped the victim, SHIRLEY BRYANT, as evidenced by the Defendant's statement that 'Dead people don't talk.'" (SR 415). Throughout Farr's letters and testimony and in the factual finding for the plea, unrefuted evidence showed that Farr intended to kill the victim in order to extricate himself from his criminal actions and that he intended to leave no witnesses. His actions defined the very nature of the conduct contemplated law enforcement and this aggravator, i.e., hindering by eliminating a witness was a dominant reason for this murder. Cf. Correll v. State, 523 So.2d 562 (Fla), cert. denied, 488 Henry; U.S. 871, 109 S.Ct. 183, 102 L.Ed.2d 152 (1988).

The evidence also fully supports the trial court's finding that the murder was heinous, atrocious, or cruel. As found by "The unrefuted testimony established beyond a that court: reasonable doubt that the Defendant told the victim BRYANT that he was going to kill her; that the victim BRYANT begged for her life several times and was praying; that the Defendant put the gun to the victim BRYANT's head several times and pulled the trigger; that the Defendant removed the victim BRYANT's shoes so she could not escape from him; all of said circumstances establishing that the crime carried out was conscienceless and pitiless and caused the victim BRYANT to agonize over her impending death for a period of time. See, Douglas v. State, 575 So.2d 165 (Fla. 1991)." (SR 416). Farr's testimony as to this aggravator was unrefuted. Farr kidnapped the seventeen-year-old victim at gunpoint and subjected her to a high-speed car chase that ended when he purposefully crashed the car. The pitiless and conscienceless nature of this murder and the agony and terror the victim suffered are apparent from the facts. Cf. Bryan v. State, 533 So.2d 744 (Fla. 1988), cert. denied, 490 U.S. 1028, 109 S.Ct. 1765, 104 L.Ed.2d 200 (1989); Parker v. State, 476 So.2d 134 (Fla. 1985). Thus, the trial court correctly found that the challenged aggravators had been established beyond a reasonable doubt. Even assuming that one or both of these aggravators should not have been found, however, any error would be harmless in light of the remaining valid aggravators and the complete absence of mitigators. Cf. Capehart v. State, 583 So.2d 1009 (Fla. 1991), cert. denied, 112 S.Ct. 955, 117 L.Ed.2d 122 Holton v. State, 573 So.2d 284 (Fla. 1990). (1992);

## CONCLUSION

Therefore, the state asks this Court to affirm Farr's death sentence.